ORIGINAL

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO: SCOL-464

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner

v.

ANGELA STECK,

Case No.: 2D00-932 SCO1-464

District Court

Plaintiff/Respondent

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review From The Second District Court of Appeal

Charles C. Lane Florida Bar No: 284467 Lau, Lane, Pieper, Conley & McCreadie, P.A. 100 S. Ashley Drive, Suite 1700 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 229-2121-Telephone (813) 228-7710-Facsimile Alan C. Sundberg Florida Bar No: 079381 Smith, Ballard & Logan, P.A. Lively House 403 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 577-0444-Telephone (850) 577-0022-Facsimile

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arises out of an automobile/pedestrian accident that occurred late one night in June, 1997. (A1 at D256). Ms. Steck walked in front of an automobile traveling with the right of way on a busy, multilane highway and was severely injured. Witnesses to the accident testified that the driver of the vehicle was not at fault and could not have avoided hitting her. At the time she was hospitalized, her blood alcohol level was more than three times the legal limit. Due to the fact that she received 4.7 liters of intravenous fluids in the half hour between the accident and the blood draw, her blood alcohol level was actually substantially higher than three times the legal limit when the accident occurred. Id.

As a result of the accident, Ms. Steck was hospitalized for 53 days, lost a leg, and incurred more than \$350,000.00 of medical expenses. She was insured under a health insurance contract issued by Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. ("Blue Cross"). Blue Cross refused to pay her hospital and medical expenses because the policy contained an exclusion which stated:

> This contract does not provide benefits for: . . . A condition <u>resulting from</u> you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician. (Emphasis added).

Steck sued for breach of contract and declaratory Ms. Blue Cross defended based upon the policy exclusion. judgment. The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment and stipulated that Ms. Steck's accident was caused by her drunken condition. The trial court granted Ms. Steck's motion and denied Blue Cross' motion, citing Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins., Co., of Tenn., 41 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1949) ("Mason I") and Mason v. Life & Casualty Ins., <u>Co., of Tenn.</u>, 41 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 1949) ("<u>Mason II</u>"). Blue Cross appealed and the Second District affirmed, holding that the policy's drunkenness exclusion only applied to exclude expenses related to a "direct" injury to biological systems of a person, such as acute alcohol poisoning or liver damage, not to "indirect" injuries, such as accidental injuries caused by the behavior of an insured while intoxicated. Id. Blue Cross timely filed a petition for review in this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the express and direct conflict created by the <u>Steck</u> decision below and the decision in <u>Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Ming</u>, 579 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The <u>Ming</u> decision, which involved the same health insurer and a policy exclusion for conditions resulting from an insured's drunkenness, reached the exact opposite conclusion from <u>Steck</u>. <u>Ming</u> held that the drunkenness exclusion "obviously applied" to injuries suffered by a driver in a drunk driving accident.

This Court should exercise its discretion to resolve this conflict because changes to the insurance code since 1949 and subsequent decisions by this Court and Florida's other district courts demonstrate that the drunkenness exclusion should be applied in those cases in which an insured's intoxication has a causal connection to the injuries suffered and the expenses incurred, not merely to those cases in which alcohol intake has a direct biological effect on a person's body, such as alcohol poisoning or liver damage.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS CASE

In its decision below, <u>Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida</u>, <u>Inc., v. Steck</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D255 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 17, 2001), the district court created express and direct conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Blue Cross and</u> <u>Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Ming</u>, 579 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). This Court has jurisdiction to review this case and resolve the conflict. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

In <u>Steck</u>, the applicable Blue Cross health insurance policy provision excluded health care benefits for: ". . . a condition resulting from you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician." <u>Steck</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at D256. The <u>Steck</u> court concluded that this provision only operated to exclude the <u>direct</u> effects of drunkenness on the biological systems of an insured, such as acute alcohol poisoning or liver damage. <u>Id</u>. at D256. <u>Steck</u> held that the applicable policy's exclusionary language did not exclude coverage for the indirect effects of the insured's drunkenness, such as accidental injuries caused by the insured's behavior - in Ms. Steck's case, walking in front of and being struck by an automobile. <u>Id</u>. at D256.

In Ming, a Blue Cross policy exclusion based on drunkenness resulted in the opposite ruling by the Fifth District. The Minq court described the Blue Cross health insurance policy provision as follows: "Benefits are expressly excluded as to injury resulting from an insured's participation in a felony and from the insured's being drunk." Ming, 579 So. 2d at 771. Unlike the Court in Steck, however, the Ming court held that: "Without considering the insured's (sic) 'standing defense' the facts relating to the insured's injuries resulting from his drunk condition and felonious conduct are not in dispute and both exclusions obviously apply." Ming, 579 So. 2d at 772. In Ming, the insured was injured in an accident he caused while driving drunk and in which he caused a death-ultimately leading to a felony conviction. Unlike the Court in <u>Steck</u>, the <u>Ming</u> court was unconcerned with whether the drunken driver's injuries were direct effects of his drunkenness or an indirect effect caused by the insured's behavior while drunk. The Ming court plainly held that an exclusion for injuries resulting from the insured's being drunk obviously applied to injuries suffered in a drunk driving accident. In light of that holding, Ming reversed a summary judgment entered in favor of the insured's assignee, and remanded with directions to enter summary judgment for Blue Cross. The holding in Steck cannot be reconciled with the

holding in <u>Ming</u> and represents express and direct conflict justifying the exercise of this court's discretionary jurisdiction.

<u>Steck</u> holds that the Blue Cross health insurance policy exclusion for injuries "resulting from" drunkenness only applies to the direct effects of drunkenness, alcohol poisoning or liver damage. <u>Ming</u> held that the Blue Cross policy exclusion for injuries "resulting from" the insured's drunkenness applied to the indirect effects of that drunkenness, such as the auto accident related injuries suffered by the insured in <u>Ming</u> or the pedestrian/auto accident related injuries suffered by Ms. Steck in this case. <u>Steck and Ming</u> involve the same insurer, a drunkenness exclusion, and the same type of injuries, yet the cases reach different results. There is express and direct conflict.

THE COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO REVIEW THIS CASE

<u>Mason I</u> construed a policy exclusion for deaths "resulting directly from the use of intoxicating liquors." <u>Mason I</u>, 41 So. 2d at 154. This Court correctly held that the use of the adverb "directly" in the policy exclusion limited the reach of the exclusion to those cases in which the use of intoxicating liquor had a direct biological effect on the insured. <u>Id.</u> at 155. The <u>Steck</u> decision is, however, based on <u>Mason II</u>, which construed a life insurance policy that excluded benefits "<u>resulting from</u> the

use of intoxicating liquors." <u>Mason II</u>, 41 So. 2d at 155 (emphasis added). With little explanation (as noted in <u>Steck below</u>), <u>Mason II</u> held that the policy exclusion for benefits "resulting from" the use of intoxicating liquors was to be applied the same as the policy exclusion in <u>Mason I</u>, which involved a policy exclusion for benefits "<u>resulting directly from</u> the use of intoxicating liquor." <u>Mason I</u>, 41 So.2d at 154.

Subsequent to the decisions in Mason I and Mason II, in 1953, the Florida legislature expressly authorized health insurers to exclude coverage for "any loss sustained or contracted in consequence of the insured's being intoxicated. . . " Ch. 28027, Laws of Florida (1953). In 1982, the statute was amended to its present language permitting an exclusion "for any loss resulting from the insured being drunk. . ." §627.629, Fla Stat. (1982). Since the enactment of these statutes, but for <u>Steck</u>, every Florida court construing drunkenness exclusions in life or health insurance policies, including this Court in Harris v. Carolina Life Ins., Co., 233 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1970), has ceased to rely on Mason II and has held that the statutory exclusion applies if an insurer proves a causal connection between the insured's drunkenness and the loss claimed. In other words, drunkenness exclusions have been given effect if an indirect causal relationship is proven. For example, in <u>Rivers v. Conger Life Ins., Co.</u>, 229 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 4th DCA

1969), then Associate Judge Tjoflat, in construing the 1953 version of the statute, concluded that: "The words 'in consequence of being intoxicated' mean that a causative connection between intoxication and death must be shown if coverage is to be denied." <u>Id</u>. at 628. In addition, Judge Tjoflat quoted with approval from <u>10 Couch on</u> <u>Insurance</u>, 2d. ed. §41:457, which equated the phrase "in consequence" with the word "result" in concluding that the 1953 statute only required <u>a</u> casual connection between intoxication and death before an insurer would be permitted to rely upon a drunkenness exclusion.

If this court allows <u>Steck</u> to limit the statutorily permitted drunkenness exclusion to cases in which the insured is treated solely for the effects of alcohol toxicity or drug overdose, the decision will give rise to absurd results. For instance, in that event, an insured, who drinks himself into an alcoholic coma, passes out and strikes his head on the ground, would be prevented from recovering benefits for the cost of pumping his stomach of alcohol (a direct effect of drunkenness that presumably would be excluded from coverage), but would remain entitled to recover for treatment of head or other injuries suffered in the resulting fall (an indirect effect of the drunkenness). Such a result would follow because the "direct cause" of the head or other injury would be a person's impact with the ground, not the direct effect of

alcohol on the body itself. No logic is apparent from such a result.

Florida's legislature has determined that health insurers may exclude from coverage injuries "resulting from" drunkenness or the use of narcotics. Presumably, in doing so, the legislature was not only concerned with excluding direct costs of treating alcohol toxicity or druq overdose (which would be relatively insignificant), but was also interested in imposing on individuals who became drunk or who overdosed on drugs the cost of paying for their injuries or treatment necessitated by their drunkenness or drug use. As can be seen from the instant case, the so-called indirect results of such drunkenness can be severe, costly injuries. Nevertheless, the legislature has determined that the cost burden of such destructive (and possibly illegal) behavior should be borne by the individual who engages in the behavior, and not by health insurers or the public that purchases such health insurance. This Court should accept jurisdiction to prevent <u>Steck</u> from emasculating the legislature's policy decision in that regard.

CONCLUSION

This Court has jurisdiction to resolve the express and direct conflict between the Second District's decision below and the Fifth District's decision in <u>Ming</u>. It should exercise that jurisdiction to quash the decision in <u>Steck</u> and confirm the decision in <u>Ming</u> so as to conform to the policy determination made by the legislature in §627.629, Florida Statutes.