0 p <

#### FILED THOMAS D. HALL

MAR 2 1 2001

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE SHIELD : OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Defendant/Petitioner,

v.

ANGELA STECK,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

SUPREME COURT

CASE NUMBER: SC01-464

SECOND DISTRICT

CASE NUMBER: 2D00-932

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Charles P. Schropp

Florida Bar Number: 206881 Schropp, Buell & Elligett, P.A. 401 East Jackson Street, Suite 2600

Tampa, Florida 33602

Telephone: (813) 221-2600 Facsimile: (813) 221-1760

Counsel for Respondent, Angela Steck

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Blue Cross's¹ statement of facts is generally accurate, except that its description of the holding of the Second District Court of Appeal is superficial and therefore misleading. Blue Cross implies that the Second District held that intoxication exclusions apply as a general matter only to "direct" injury to the insured's biological systems, such as acute alcohol poisoning or liver damage, and not to "indirect" injuries, such as accidental injuries caused by the behavior of an intoxicated individual. That implication is incorrect.

The Second District's holding was based on the lack of specificity in the particular language utilized by Blue Cross in the exclusion incorporated into Ms. Steck's policy; its opinion expressly states: "Blue Cross's exclusionary language in Ms. Steck's policy was not specific enough to exclude from coverage indirect injuries as well as direct injuries." (A.4) Moreover, the Second District based its determination that Blue Cross's policy lacked the necessary specificity on the controlling authority of a decision of this Court which had applied functionally identical exclusionary wording to virtually identical facts.

Petitioner, Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. will be referred to in this brief as "Blue Cross," and Respondent, Angela Steck, as "Ms. Steck." References to the appendix will be designated by the prefix ("A.") and to Blue Cross's jurisdictional brief by the prefix ("I.B.").

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

There is no conflict of decisions. The Second District in this case expressly based its decision upon the particular language of the intoxication exclusion in Ms. Steck's policy, and applied the controlling authority of a prior decision of this Court which had applied a functionally identical exclusion to virtually the same facts and concluded that the exclusion was not sufficiently specific to bar coverage for accidental injuries. The Second District also recognized that a more comprehensively worded exclusion could exclude such injuries. The allegedly conflicting Fifth District decision does not even specify the language of the exclusion involved in that case, although it is clear from context that it is different from the exclusion construed by the Second District. Moreover, that decision did not adjudicate the applicability of the exclusion, but rather involved whether the insurer had waived its right to rely on policy exclusions by failing to honor a claim deadline.

Blue Cross's claim that other Florida courts have "ceased to rely on" the controlling *Mason II* decision is inaccurate. To the contrary, most subsequent policies have broadened their exclusions to expressly exclude indirect injuries in order to comply with the holding of *Mason II*. Blue Cross is simply asking the Court to rewrite its policy after the fact.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THERE IS NO CONFLICT OF DECISIONS.

Blue Cross seeks discretionary review of a Second District decision holding that a health insurance policy it issued to Ms. Steck did not exclude coverage for medical bills incurred when Ms. Steck, a pedestrian, was struck by a motor vehicle while intoxicated. The Second District found that Blue Cross's exclusion of benefits for "a condition resulting from you being drunk or under the influence of any narcotic unless taken on the advice of a physician," was not specific enough to exclude indirect injuries, *e.g.*, accidental injuries caused by the behavior of the person while intoxicated, such as those sustained by Ms. Steck.

The Second District had controlling authority for this conclusion - - a decision of this Court which applied a functionally identical exclusion to virtually the same facts. *Mason v. Life & Casualty Insurance Company of Tennessee*, 41 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 1949)("*Mason II*"), involved an intoxicated woman who was riding in a taxi cab outside of Pensacola, Florida, when she ordered the driver to her out on a dark deserted stretch of road in the early morning hours. While walking on the paved portion of the road in her inebriated condition, she was hit by a truck properly using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The facts of *Mason II* are set out in a companion case, *Mason v. Life & Casualty Insurance Company of Tennessee*, 41 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1949) ("*Mason I*").

the highway and died as a result of her injuries. In *Mason II*, this Court held that an insurance policy which excluded coverage for "loss or injury resulting from the use of intoxicating liquors" was insufficiently specific to allow the insurer deny coverage based on this exclusion. The Second District noted that Blue Cross's exclusion was "like the exclusionary language of *Mason II*" and that "consequently, *Mason II* is controlling." (A.4) Blue Cross does not claim that *Mason II* is distinguishable or that the Second District misinterpreted this decision.

Notwithstanding the Second District's express reliance on a controlling, onpoint decision of this Court, Blue Cross argues that this Court has jurisdiction to
review the decision based on purported conflict with the Fifth District decision in

Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida, Inc. v. Ming, 579 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA
1991) ("Ming"). There are at least two distinct reasons why this claim fails. First, as
previously noted, the Second District decision was expressly predicated on the
particular language of the exclusion incorporated into Ms. Steck's policy, while the

Ming decision does not even disclose the wording of the exclusion involved in that
case. A decision predicated on the specific language of a particular policy exclusion
cannot expressly and directly conflict with a decision involving an exclusion from
another policy whose wording is unspecified. Second, the Ming opinion

demonstrates on its face that the issue decided there was not the applicability of an intoxication exclusion, but rather whether the insurer had waived the right to assert any policy exclusions by failing to address the claim in a timely fashion. Once again, a decision cannot be in express and direct conflict with another decision in which the allegedly conflicting point of law was not even at issue.

Ming involved a health insurance policy issued to an insured who, while driving drunk, caused an accident which both injured him and caused a death for which the insured was ultimately convicted of the felony offense of manslaughter or vehicular homicide. The Ming opinion states that the policy contained exclusions for injury resulting from an insured's participation in a felony and from being drunk, but does not quote the language of these exclusions. The policy also contained a provision which stated that the insurer "has sixty (60) days to make a decision on your claim after we receive the claim." Ming, supra, 579 So. 2d at 772.

A doctor who had treated the insured after the accident submitted a claim under the policy. Blue Cross did not make a decision on the claim within the 60-day period, although it subsequently denied the claim based on the exclusions. The doctor sued and obtained a summary judgment. On appeal, the Fifth District reversed with directions to enter summary judgment for the insurer. The opinion makes it clear that

the applicability of the exclusions was not contested and that the only issue was whether the failure to make a decision on the claim within 60 days precluded Blue Cross from thereafter refusing to pay.

The Second District's opinion was expressly based on the wording of Mrs. Steck's policy, and in particular the absence of language extending the exclusion to injuries "indirectly" caused by intoxication; the *Ming* opinion does not even disclose the wording of the exclusions involved there. In its jurisdictional brief, Blue Cross first attempts to deal with this obvious distinction between the cases by ignoring it and taking the position that conflict exists merely because of the difference in result. However, the suggestion that policy language does not matter is belied by the Second District decision, which expressly acknowledges that a properly worded intoxication exclusion can extend to the indirect effects of alcohol abuse. In fact, the Second District cited the exclusionary language of the policy examined by this Court in Harris v. Carolina Life Ins. Co., 233 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1970)("Harris"), and pronounced it "an excellent example of the type of exclusion Blue Cross clearly thought it had provided but did not." (A.5-6). The exclusion at issue in *Harris* provided for the following exceptions from coverage:

"Death. . . resulting directly or indirectly wholly or partially from any of the following causes are risks not assumed under this policy: .

. .c. Bodily injury or under the influence of alcohol or drug. . . . " (emphasis added).

Inasmuch as the Second District expressly acknowledged that a differently worded exclusion would pass muster under *Mason II*, Blue Cross's claim that conflict exists merely because the Second District found coverage is meritless.

Blue Cross also states on several occasions that both this case and *Ming* involved policies issued by the "same insurer," thereby suggesting that the policy language may have been the same. Even if that were correct, this would at most create an inherent or implied conflict which cannot serve as a jurisdictional basis for discretionary review under Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). *See Dept. of Health v. Nat. Adoption Counseling*, 498 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1986). However, it is clear the exclusions are not the same. The exclusion in Ms. Steck's policy is a combined exclusion for conditions resulting from either alcohol or drug abuse. The description of the exclusion in the *Ming* opinion makes no reference to drugs; accordingly, while the specific language employed in the *Ming* exclusion involved is unknown, it was not the same as that used in Ms. Steck's policy.

The second fundamental reason why no conflict exists is that *Ming* did not decide the same point of law as the Second District below. The *Ming* opinion on its

face demonstrates that the applicability of the policy's exclusions was not in dispute, and that the Fifth District considered the sole issue presented to be whether the insurer had forfeited its right to rely on policy exclusions by failing to meet the policy's deadline for responding to claims. Specifically, the *Ming* court stated:

Without considering the insured's "standing defense" the facts relating to the insured's injuries resulting from his drunk condition and felonious conduct are not in dispute and both exclusions obviously apply.

Apparently the decision below results from the failure of the insurer to make an explained denial during the 60 day period. This appears to mean that the policy has been interpreted as denying the insurer the right to defend a claim based on a coverage exclusion if the insurer fails to make an explained denial within the 60 day period and this interpretation is simply in error. 579 So. 2d at 772.

Since *Ming* and the decision below adjudicated different issues, there is no express and direct conflict between their holdings.

## II. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

Even if jurisdiction were presumed to exist merely because *Ming* reached a different result, albeit on different issues and different facts, this Court should decline to exercise discretionary review. Blue Cross's jurisdictional brief argues that this Court should grant review by characterizing the Second District decision as an aberration, and stating that "every Florida court construing drunkenness exclusions

in life or health insurance policies. . . has ceased to rely on Mason II." (I.B. 7). Actually, the reverse is true. Since the decision in *Mason II*, Florida insurers wishing to extend their intoxication exclusions to exclude the indirect effects of alcohol abuse have incorporated language into those exclusions expressly informing the insured that losses caused "directly or indirectly" by intoxication are excluded. For example, in Harris this Court construed an exclusion which expressly excluded injuries which resulted "directly or indirectly, wholly or partially" from being under the influence of alcohol. Rivers v. Conger Life Insurance Company, 229 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 4th DCA) 1969), the other decision cited by Blue Cross in its jurisdictional brief, similarly involved an exclusion for injury which results "directly or indirectly" while the insured is under the influence of alcohol. These decisions heed Mason II's admonition that an intoxication exclusion must expressly exclude the indirect effects of alcohol abuse in order to exclude accidental injuries. Blue Cross made this same argument to the Second District, which noted that, in those cases which had applied the intoxication exclusion to accidental injuries, the difference in the language of the exclusions explained the differing outcome of those cases. (A.5).

Blue Cross also suggests there is significance in the fact that the Florida legislature in 1953 adopted a statute expressly authorizing health insurers to include

intoxication exclusions in their policy. This argument was also made to the Second District, which correctly pointed out that *Mason II* had assumed the validity of the intoxication exclusion, and that the statute merely codified what insurance companies had previously excluded.

No general principle of public policy is involved in this case. Rather, Blue Cross is simply asking this Court to accept jurisdiction to rewrite its policy after the fact to, in the words of the Second District, transform its exclusion into the exclusion Blue Cross "thought it had provided but did not." (A.6). This Court should decline the invitation.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Discretionary review should be denied.